Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 11/10/2021 by Tayuan Ma, Deputy Clerk

S271721

No.		
1 3 ()		

FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TINA TURRIETA, Plaintiff,

v.

LYFT, INC., Defendant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B304701; Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC714153, The Honorable Dennis J. Landin

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY PROPOSED INTERVENOR BRANDON OLSON

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The Private Attorneys General Act, Lab. Code § 2698, et seq. ("PAGA") permits private litigants to bring claims on behalf of the State of California's Labor and Workforce Development This Court has ("LWDA"). recognized that "Legislature's purpose in enacting the PAGA was to augment the limited enforcement capability of the [LWDA] by empowering employees to enforce the Labor Code." (Iskanian v. CLS) Transportation Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 383.) When a plaintiff deputized by the LWDA brings a PAGA action on behalf of the State, does that plaintiff have the "requisite immediate, pecuniary, and substantial interest" to intervene in or object to a related action, or to vacate a judgment that purports to settle the claims that plaintiff has brought on behalf of the State?
- 2. Before filing a private enforcement action under PAGA, an employee must provide the LWDA and the employer with notice of the specific Labor Code violations alleged and facts and theories to support the claims and then wait 65 days. (Lab. Code § 2699.3(a).) Does a plaintiff lack the authority to prosecute and settle PAGA claims on behalf of the State before satisfying the notice requirements set forth in Labor Code section 2699.3(a)? Relatedly, does a trial court lack jurisdiction to approve a settlement that releases the State's claims for which the plaintiff has not exhausted these notice requirements?

3. This Court has confirmed that PAGA's provisions require trial courts to "review and approve any settlement of any civil action filed" pursuant to PAGA and that this duty must "ensur[e] that any negotiated resolution is fair to those affected." (Williams v. Super. Ct. (2017) 3 Cal.5th 531, 549.) Does that duty require trial courts to determine independently whether the proposed settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable, and that it advances the public purposes of PAGA?

REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This petition should be granted to secure uniformity of decision in the appellate courts and to settle important questions of law involving the prosecution of PAGA claims, and the duties of courts when multiple, parallel PAGA actions threaten to thwart PAGA's essential purpose of augmenting LWDA enforcement.

Petitioner and proposed Intervenor Brandon Olson is a duly deputized agent of the LWDA litigating claims against Defendant Lyft, Inc. ("Lyft"). When the PAGA claims in his case were settled in this action by Plaintiff Turrieta, Olson objected, attempted to intervene, and ultimately moved to set aside the judgment approving a settlement that involved a more than 99.5% discount of the value of the PAGA penalties at issue. In spite of his status as a deputy of the LWDA, the Second District Court of Appeal held that Olson was not an "aggrieved party" and lacked the necessary "personal interest in the settlement of another PAGA claim" to

have standing to disturb the trial court's approval. (*Turrieta v. Lyft, Inc.* (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 955, 284 Cal.Rptr.3d 767, Op. at 18 ("*Turrieta* Op.").)

Just hours later, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held precisely the opposite in *Uribe v. Crown Bldg. Maint. Co.*, No. G057836, ---Cal.Rptr.3d---, 2021 WL 4962724, at *2 (Cal. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2021), as modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 26, 2021) ("*Uribe*"). There, the Court of Appeal held that one duly deputized plaintiff had standing to challenge the PAGA settlement of a different deputized plaintiff because the former had "the requisite 'immediate, pecuniary, and substantial' interest in preserving and advancing her PAGA cause of action in her lawsuit, which would be extinguished by res judicata if the judgment" were approved. (*Id.*)

One could hardly script a more obvious contradiction in the collective understanding of the Court of Appeal about the rights of a PAGA plaintiff deputized by the LWDA. This reason alone warrants this Court's review.

The Court of Appeal below recognized that Olson had standing (1) to prosecute the State's claims and even (2) to settle the State's claims. But it wrongly held that Olson somehow *lost* standing to seek to vacate the trial court's judgment on behalf of the State. (*Turrieta* Op. at 19 ["Appellants were deputized under PAGA to prosecute their employer's Labor Code violations on

behalf of the state; they fail to point to any authority allowing them to act on the state's behalf for all purposes. Because it is the state's rights, and not appellants', that are affected by a parallel PAGA settlement, appellants are not aggrieved parties with standing to seek to vacate the judgment or appeal."].)¹ In other words, the appellate court concluded that, upon the entry of judgment by the trial court, Olson's interest in the case was transformed from that of agent of the State to an "individual claim" that stripped him of standing. (*Turrieta* Op. at 23 ["Here, appellants have no individual claims that would be affected by the settlement and are therefore not 'aggrieved' for the purposes of standing to move to vacate or appeal from that judgment."].)

This rationale was also the basis of the Court of Appeal's erroneous holding that Olson did not have "a direct and immediate interest in the settlement, which would establish [his] entitlement to mandatory or permissive intervention." (*Turrieta* Op. at 27.) According to the Court of Appeal, the trial court's "implicit denial" of Olson's motion to intervene was justified "for the same reason they could not establish they were 'aggrieved' for the purposes of

¹ The decision below did not address Olson's argument that the settlement approved by the Court violated this Court's decision in *ZB*, *N.A. v. Super. Ct.* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 175, 196 ("*ZB*") because it allocated \$5 million to unpaid wages. (Turrieta Op. at 11.) By allocating \$5 million as wages rather than penalties payable to the State pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(i), the settlement implicates an obvious immediate, substantial, pecuniary interest of the State.

standing." (*Ibid.* ["As we explained in our discussion of standing above, appellants' position as PAGA plaintiffs in different PAGA actions does not create a direct interest in *Turrieta*, in which they are not real parties in interest. Appellants' interest in pursuing enforcement of PAGA claims on behalf of the state cannot supersede the same interest held by Turrieta in her own PAGA case. As with standing, appellants have no personal interest in the PAGA claims and any individual rights they have would not be precluded under the PAGA settlement."].)

The Court of Appeal's decision both conflicts with *Uribe* and, if left standing, risks repeated application of an entirely erroneous standard. The standard articulated by the court wrongly places the burden on plaintiffs, duly deputized by the LWDA to act on behalf of the State, to prove that they *continue* to be duly deputized during the pendency of parallel litigation. The Court of Appeal's conclusion that Olson may not act "on the State's behalf for all purposes" is a truism – Olson does not suggest he has assumed the sweep of the LWDA's entire authority. But there is no basis – not in the text of the PAGA statute, nor found in any decision of this Court – to conclude that Olson's authority to act on behalf of the State *ceases* at this stage of the litigation. In addition, the Court of Appeal offers no basis to conclude why Olson's efforts to assert *the State's interest* in a parallel action – morphed into the "personal interest" of a litigant pursuing "individual claims." (*Turrieta* Op.

at pp. 16, 23.) Nor does the Court of Appeal cite any authority or any part of the record justifying these conclusions.

Taken to its logical conclusion, the Court of Appeal's decision is extreme because it effectively eliminates the authority of a duly deputized plaintiff to be heard at the trial court, and immunizes from appellate review any PAGA settlement once approved by a trial court. The Court of Appeal dismisses such concerns by claiming that "the LWDA may provide the trial court with comments on or objections to a proposed settlement, and has done so in the past." (Turrieta Op. at 20.) But the Court of Appeal cites just one case where this happened, O'Connor v. Uber Technologies, *Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 2016) 201 F.Supp.3d 1110, 1113, and in that case the LWDA's input was requested by the district court. The Court of Appeal's impractical "solution" thus ignores what this Court has repeatedly recognized about the LWDA's limited resources, and sets a dangerous precedent of eliminating appellate review of even patently unfair, unreasonable, and inadequate settlements, as here. It is also why the decision is in conflict with *Uribe*, which was decided the same day as Turrieta and came to the opposite conclusion.

This petition raises two additional issues that warrant this Court's immediate attention. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that before filing a private enforcement action, an employee must provide the LWDA and the employer with notice "of the specific

Labor Code violations alleged and facts and theories to support the claims" (*Turrieta* Op. at 14) and then wait 65 days. (Lab. Code § 2699.3(a)(2)(A).) It is undisputed that Turrieta failed to do so; her complaint alleges six causes of action, and her settlement, filed on December 9, 2019, summarily adds four additional causes of action to her complaint (for at least nine additional Labor Code violations), including for meal break violations, rest break violations, record keeping violations, minimum wage violations, and pre-hire notice violations. (1 AA 501-12.)

This jurisdictional infirmity was ignored by the trial court and swept aside by the Court of Appeal. Instead, Turrieta's settlement expanded the sweep of her action to release valuable, new, and uninvestigated claims for which she had never provided notice – and then achieved a *judgment* on those claims just 28 days later. There is no authority for a plaintiff deputized by the LWDA to resolve unnoticed claims without first exhausting the notice requirements of PAGA, nor of a court to ignore this jurisdictional prerequisite.

The LWDA raised these jurisdictional objections in its amicus brief to the Court of Appeal. The appellate court dismissed them out of hand, concluding that the LWDA's arguments "should have been addressed to the trial court below." (*Turrieta* Op. at p. 20 fn. 14.) But this conclusion is at odds with the statutory language of PAGA and this Court's numerous observations about

that PAGA was enacted precisely because the LWDA lacks sufficient resources to pursue the claims on its own. (*ZB*, 8 Cal.5th at 184 ["The Legislature enacted the PAGA in 2003 after deciding that lagging labor law enforcement resources made additional private enforcement necessary "to achieve maximum compliance with state labor laws."], citing *Iskanian*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at 379, quoting *Arias v. Super. Ct.* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 980.)

Thus, the LWDA's ability to intervene in the manner contemplated by the Court of Appeal ignores that "scarce resources" create real limitations on the LWDA, which gave rise to PAGA in the first instance. (See Williams, supra, 3 Cal.5th at 545-46.) Moreover, even if the LWDA were able to intervene after it became aware of the proposed settlement, the trial court foreclosed such an outcome by entering judgment just 28 days after settlement notice was provided to the LWDA – including for nine new Labor Code violations. This was well short of the 65-day statutory notice window under Labor Code section 2699.3(a)(2)(A).

Finally, because the Court of Appeal erroneously affirmed the orders denying intervention and the motion to vacate the judgment, it erroneously failed to review the trial court's approval of a patently unfair, unreasonable, and inadequate settlement that bears all the hallmarks of "plaintiff shopping" by Lyft. This Court has confirmed that PAGA's provisions require trial courts to "review and approve any settlement of any civil action filed" (*ibid.*) pursuant to PAGA and that this duty must "ensur[e] that any negotiated resolution is fair to those affected." (*Williams, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 549). The Court also has explained that the "civil penalties recovered on the state's behalf are intended to 'remediate present violations and deter future ones,' not to redress employees' injuries." (*Kim v. Reins Int'l Cal., Inc.* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 73, 86, quoting *Williams*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 546.) Here, the settlement fails to do either, a fact the trial court patently failed to analyze.

Indeed, the LWDA, as *amicus* below, urged reversal of the trial court's order on the grounds that the settlement was unfair and unreasonable, was based on errors of fact and law, and failed to advance PAGA's essential public purpose. Petitioner and the LWDA both established that the trial court erroneously adopted Turrieta's misstatements of the applicable law governing the Lyft drivers' misclassification claims, and used those misstatements to justify a discount that, by Turrieta's own concession, exceeds 99.5%.

These circumstances demonstrate a breakdown in the adversarial process that are a feature of "plaintiff shopping" or "reverse auctions." Traditionally a concern in the class action arena, plaintiff shopping by defendants has proliferated in the

context of PAGA where multiple plaintiffs have been deputized and the matters are not coordinated. "A reverse auction is said to occur when 'the defendant in a series of class actions picks the most ineffectual class lawyers to negotiate a settlement [in] the hope that the district court will approve a weak settlement that will preclude other claims against the defendant.' [Citation.] It has an odor of mendacity about it." (Negrete v. Allianz Life Ins. Co. of N. Am. (9th Cir. 2008) 523 F.3d 1091, 1099.) When multiple plaintiffs sue the same defendant, the proverbial race to the courthouse is turned on its head. The rush is not to be first to the starting line, but first to the finish line; not to file so that litigation may commence, but to settle because there is room on the medal stand only for one. Left unchecked, these uncoordinated individual "races" distort the adversarial process and undermine the public purpose of PAGA. Whether this is labeled as "plaintiff shopping" "reverse auction," the result has been predictable: contradictory jurisprudence, unjustifiable settlement discounts, and inconsistently applied statutory procedures.

Here, the trial court ignored the many indicia of a reverse auction, and the Court of Appeal failed to undertake any independent consideration of the facts. This Court's review is necessary to establish a standard for the analysis of PAGA settlements that requires trial courts to analyze independently the fairness of the settlement and the strength of the claims. The

record demonstrates that the trial court was not provided with sufficient factual support for the settlement reached, and did not conduct any independent analysis of its fairness or adequacy. Indeed, the trial court did not respond to or engage the objections raised by Olson about the patent misstatements of the law advanced by Turrieta, and neither did the Court of Appeal. Instead, the trial court merely "signed the proposed order submitted by Turrieta" (*Turrieta* Op. at 20) and the Court of Appeal did not disturb that order.

The decision below evidences clear error in the interpretation of critical Labor Code protections established by PAGA, and creates dangerous precedents that are in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeal. The decision highlights the need for review and guidance by this Court. Petitioner requests, therefore, that this Court accept review and resolve these questions of vital importance.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

I. Olson Was Deputized By The LWDA To Prosecute PAGA Penalties Against Lyft.

On May 24, 2018, Petitioner Olson provided notice to the State of California and Lyft, Inc. of violations of the Labor Code experienced by him and all other aggrieved employees (California Lyft drivers during the relevant period). His complaint, *Olson v*.

Lyft, Inc., was filed in the Superior Court San Francisco County on May 25, 2018, and the PAGA claims were added to his first amended complaint on August 16, 2018. The complaint asserts that Lyft misclassified drivers as independent contractors and failed to abide by the employment law protections set forth under the Labor Code and applicable Wage Orders. Olson alleges, inter alia, that Lyft failed to pay minimum wages, overtime premiums, and business expense reimbursements, resulting in penalties for Labor Code violations recoverable under PAGA.

Two other PAGA actions were filed in the Los Angeles Superior Court against Lyft. The *Turrieta* action was filed on July 13, 2018, and asserts six causes of action. *Olson* and *Turrieta* both allege that Lyft's misclassification scheme violated California law, as established by this Court's decision in *Dynamex Ops. W. v. Super. Ct.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903 (*Dynamex*). The *Dynamex* decision clarified long-standing California law and adopted a substantially simpler, three-part "ABC test" to determine employee status. (*Dynamex*, 4 Cal.5th at 916.)

Olson was aware that multiple PAGA actions against Lyft created a need for coordination. On April 16, 2019, Olson filed a petition to coordinate his case with *Turrieta* and three others asserting similar claims: *Talbot v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC-18-566392 (class action); *LaBorde v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, Case

No. BC707667 (class action); and *Seifu v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC712959 (PAGA action). (*Ibid.*) All parties opposed coordination. (1 AA 439.)²

Olson's petition was denied on June 27, 2019. (1 AA 438.) As Olson correctly predicted, the failure to coordinate these cases would create the conditions for a "reverse auction," whereby each plaintiff's counsel in the overlapping cases would suffer from pressure to settle all the cases at a steep discount. Lyft then employed a strategy to play the different plaintiffs' counsel against each other in order to drive down the overall settlement value, to the detriment of the State and the aggrieved employees.

Lyft scheduled separate, serial mediations in each case, to which competing plaintiffs' counsel were not invited. First, on June 12, 2019, Lyft mediated with Seifu's counsel (who also represented Talbot); no settlement was reached. Seifu and Talbot are represented by Lichten & Liss-Riordan PC, which has experience litigating "gig economy" cases and challenging independent contractor misclassification in California and elsewhere. Next, on August 27, 2019, Lyft mediated with Olson's counsel; no settlement was reached. Olson is represented by Outten & Golden LLP, one of the preeminent employment rights firms in the country, and Olivier Schreiber & Chao LLP, another highly

² Citations are to the respective volumes of the Appellant's Appendix ("AA"), on file at the Court of Appeal.

experienced firm with a strong reputation as a top-flight firm representing workers in California. Finally, on September 10, 2019, while the *Turrieta* case was stayed, Lyft mediated with Turrieta's counsel (who also represented Laborde); those parties agreed to the settlement at issue here, purporting to wipe out all the claims in the other PAGA cases. Turrieta and Laborde are represented by the Graves Firm.

On September 18, 2019, the Governor signed Assembly Bill 5, which codified aspects of the *Dynamex* decision in the Labor Code. (See Lab. Code § 2775.) The bill unequivocally strengthened the aggrieved employees' misclassification claims against Lyft.

II. Turrieta Settles PAGA Claims Against Lyft While Her Case Is Stayed And Expands The Claims To Include Those Not Asserted In Her Complaint.

Turrieta and Lyft executed a settlement agreement on December 4, 2019, while the *Turrieta* case was stayed. The settlement seeks to resolve the claims of hundreds of thousands of Lyft drivers – called "PAGA Settlement Group Members" – for \$15,000,000. The settlement also purports to extinguish not only the State's claims being pursued by Olson that Turrieta never asserted, but also *all* Labor Code violations that could have been pursued by the State. (*See* LWDA Br. at 12, 16-17.)

On December 9, 2019, Turrieta moved for approval of the settlement. Turrieta scheduled the settlement approval hearing for January 2, 2020. Neither she nor Lyft notified counsel for Olson

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