#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TINA TURRIETA

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

Superior Court No. B271721

Court of Appeal No. B304701

Superior Court No. BC714153

LYFT, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

BRANDON OLSON,

Petitioner and Appellant.

After a Decision by The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four

Los Angeles County Superior Court Hon. Dennis J. Landin, Judge

## RESPONDENT TINA TURRIETA'S ANSWER TO BRANDON OLSON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE GRAVES FIRM
Allen Graves (S.B. No. 204580)
Jacqueline Treu (S.B. No. 247927)
122 N. Baldwin Avenue, Main Floor
Sierra Madre, CA 91024
Telephone: (626) 240-0575
allen@gravesfirm.com

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

# B. This Issue Presents No Conflicts or Important Questions That Must Be Settled

Olson has not demonstrated any conflict within the Courts of Appeal with respect to the LWDA notice issue. The Court of Appeal in this case declined to reach the merits of this issue in this case both on grounds of standing, and because it found Olson forfeited the issue. The instant case thus presents no impact on the law in this area. Not only that, Olson has not identified one single case that has raised this issue even as a matter of concern.

Olson has failed to explain why review is necessary to "secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Olson devotes just two sentences to contend that this issue is "significant," but provides nothing to substantiate his threadbare conclusion. Olson points to the LWDA's amicus brief below to contend this issue is important to the LWDA, but the Court of Appeal already made a factual finding to the contrary: "This argument should have been addressed [by the LWDA] to the trial court below . . . Instead, it did so only belatedly and in its limited role as amicus on appeal." Opinion at 21 n.14. This is another factual finding for which Olson never sought rehearing with the Court of Appeal. Cal. Rules Ct. 8.500(c)(2).

The heart of Olson's complaint on this issue, therefore, is just that he wishes he had gotten a different outcome. Olson asks this Court to leapfrog over the Court of Appeal's

determination that Olson was not entitled to review, and have this Court itself directly review the trial court's decision.

Setting aside the fact that the trial court determination was amply supported, our rules do not permit this. Purported "trial court error" does not appear on the list of items reviewable by this Court under our Rules. See Cal. Rules Ct. 8.500(b). Not only that, our rules provide that a party may petition for this Court's review of "any decision of the Court of Appeal" — not direct review of a trial court ruling. Cal. Rules Ct. 8.500(a)(1). Here, the Court of Appeal did not make any ruling on the merits of Olson' argument concerning LWDA notice; and Olson fails to seek review of the ruling the Court of Appeal did make — that he forfeited his right to contest the trial court's ruling on this issue.

# C. This Issue is Case-Specific and Any Ruling Would be Advisory

In this case, Plaintiff Turrieta filed a notice of her PAGA claims more than 65 days prior to filing her PAGA lawsuit in 2018. 1 AA 79 ¶¶9-10; 1 AA 92-103. Plaintiff Turrieta and Defendant Lyft reached a settlement in September 2019, following both parties' acceptance of a mediator's proposal. Opinion at 4, 6. On December 9, 2019, Plaintiff Turrieta provided notice to the LWDA of the settlement pursuant to Labor Code §2699(1)(2). Including notice of an amended complaint describing additional statutory violations based on the facts and

theories contained in the original complaint. 1 AA 90 ¶78; 1 AA 251-280.

The LWDA did not object to the settlement in the trial court or seek to participation in the trial proceedings at all. Opinion at 21 n.14. The LWDA did not seek to appeal the judgment entered in the trial court. The LWDA did not, and to this day has not, issued any citation or given any notice of an intent to investigate the claims that are subject to settlement. See generally DLSE Amicus Brief. The only action the agency has ever taken on this matter is filing a last-minute amicus brief. Opinion at 21 n.14. The basic timeline looks like this:

The trial court approved the parties' settlement on January 6, 2020 (28 days after the LWDA received notice of the settlement as required by Labor Code §2699(1)(2)). The trial court denied Olson's motion to vacate on February 28, 2020, 81 days after the LWDA received notice. Opinion at 12. Olson filed his notice of appeal on March 12, 2020 (94 days after the LWDA received notice.) 3 AA 711. The LWDA made its first filing in this matter with an amicus brief filed with the Court of Appeal on May 27, 2021. See DLSE Amicus Brief. That was 535 days after notice of the settlement and amended complaint.

These facts are both unique to this case and dispositive. At page 29 of his petition, Olson cites to *Williams v. Superior Court*, 3 Cal. 5th 531, 545 (2017) for the proposition that "if the agency

elects not to investigate, or investigate without issuing a citation, the employee may then bring a PAGA action." In this case, the LWDA still has not issued any citation or indicated any intention to investigate the claims being released by the settlement.

See generally DLSE Amicus Brief. This issue is not resolved by a broad policy question, but by the fact that the agency has not taken any action that would prevent Turrieta moving forward.

For example, the trial court's judgment was not final until February 28, 2020 – the date the court denied Olson's motion to vacate. This was well after the 65-day period passed, still with no response from the LWDA to Turrieta's notice of claims. See 20th Century Ins. Co. v. Superior Court, 90 Cal. App. 4th 1247, 1278 (2001) (judgment is not "final" "until all possibility of direct attack thereon," such as a "motion to vacate the judgment has been exhausted"). Opinion at 12. These are fact issues arising from the agency's failure to act in this case, not policy questions that warrant the attention of this Court.

Even if the notice was untimely at the start, the facts in this case would effect a cure and thereby render Olson's question moot. In *Garnett v. ADT, LLC*, 139 F. Supp. 3d 1121 (E.D. Cal. 2015) a plaintiff failed to give notice to the LWDA before filing her PAGA claims. However, the plaintiff gave notice after filing the complaint, and LWDA did not to investigate or issue a citation within 65 days of the notice. This cured the failure to

exhaust prior to filing. *Id.* at 1127. *See also*, *Harris v. Vector Mktg*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5659, \*7-8 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2010)

(same). In this case, the LWDA waited 535 days to provide any comment on Turrieta's claims; and even that was just an *amicus* brief. The LWDA still has not issued any citation or given any indication of intent to investigate the claims from the period covered by the settlement.

Another fact-driven issue: the claims for which Olson contends that Turrieta did not provide proper notice are claims for which Olson himself already provided notice to the LWDA before filing his own lawsuit, over three years ago in May of 2018. 2 AA 307 ¶4; 2 AA 311-312 ¶7; see DLSE Amicus Brief p. 13. This notice and the LWDA's continuing failure to act described above, constitute waiver by the LWDA that is specific to the facts of this case. See, e.g., Green v. City of Oceanside, 194 Cal. App. 3d 212, 222 (1987) (failure to exhaust administrative remedies may be waived, and does not deprive trial court of subject matter jurisdiction); Keiffer v. Bechtel Corp., 65 Cal. App. 4th 893, 896-899 (1998) (same).

There is no policy question here – just a complicated factual record that moots the purported issue for this specific case.

## IV. THE STANDARD FOR APPROVAL OF PAGA SETTLEMENTS IS NOT IN DISPUTE

Olson next contends that this Court should take up review in this case "to articulate the standards lower courts must apply in reviewing and approving PAGA settlements." Petition at 34. But Olson fails to identify any reason for this Court to do so. Olson contends there is a "lack of clarity" in our state courts that "has led to inconsistent application of <u>Labor code §2699(1)</u>." *Id.* at 37. But this issue was not in dispute in this case and is not the subject of any division in the case law.

#### A. There Is No Conflict in the Case Law on This Issue

Olson points to no Court of Appeal cases evidencing any conflict regarding the standard for approval of PAGA settlements; as a result, Olson provides no support for his claim that there exists a problem for this Court to address. Indeed, Olson points to a number of federal trial court cases that all – according to Olson – have reached accord on the standard to apply in approving PAGA settlements. Petition at 36. If the federal trial courts have reached consensus, and there is no conflict among the state courts, what work is there for this Court?

#### B. Olson Raised No Dispute on This Issue Below

Even in the instant case, there is no dispute over the standard for approval of PAGA claims. Olson argues that settlement of a PAGA action must be found to be "fair, reasonable"

and adequate with reference to the public policies underlying the PAGA." Petition at 35. But that is exactly what the trial court did. On January 2, 2020, the trial court found that:

- "The Settlement set forth in the Agreement is in all respects fair, reasonable and adequate, and complies with the policy goals of the PAGA." 2 AA 485 ¶4; Opinion at 11.
- "The Court finds the settlement to be fair, adequate and reasonable in light of the time period that is encompassed by it and the amount that will eventually [be] paid to the State of
- California and to the hundreds of thousands of Lyft drivers."
   2 AA 499; Opinion at 10.
- "There was no collusion in Connection with the Settlement."
   2 AA 485, 499.
- "The settlement was the product of informed and arms-length negotiations among competent counsel and the record is sufficiently developed to have enabled Plaintiff and Defendant to adequately evaluate and consider their respective positions." 2 AA 2 AA 485; Opinion at 11.

The Court of Appeal did not make any ruling relating to the standard for approval of PAGA settlements. In his briefing to the Court of Appeal, Olson described a standard for reviewing PAGA settlements much like the one he advances here, but he never claimed that the trial court applied the wrong standard.

See Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 23-25.

This Court does not generally consider issues that were not raised or decided below. "As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." Cal. Rules Ct. 8.500(c)(1); *In re Joshua S.*, 41 Cal. 4th 261, 272 (2007) (rejecting argument not made before the Court of Appeal); *Wilson v. 21st Century Ins. Co.*, 42 Cal. 4th 713, 726 (2007) ("Because 21st Century did not timely raise this issue in the Court of Appeal, however, we declined to address it.").

There has never been a dispute on this point. In his briefing to the Court of Appeal, Olson stated that the trial court applied the "fair, adequate and reasonable" standard that he advances here. AOB at 21, 29. Olson admitted that his grievance was not the standard, but how the trial court exercised its judgment "weighing the amount offered against the strength of the State's case and the risks of further litigation." *Id.* at 33. Instead of arguing that the trial court applied the *wrong* standard, Olson's only argument to the Court of Appeal was that the trial court came up with the *wrong result*. *Id.* at 23-40.

#### C. Any Ruling on This Issue Would Be Advisory

This issue presents the same problem as Olson's argument on standing. Because the trial court already considered Olson's arguments and applied the exact standard advocated by Olson, any ruling on this point would be a nullity in the instant case. The trial court has already made factual findings based on the standard Olson proposes. Opinion at 10-11. Absent a change that requires a *different* legal standard, the trial court cannot change its existing findings of fact. *See*, *e.g.* In <u>Coffee-Rich</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u> <u>Fielder</u>, 48 Cal. App. 3d 990, 997-98 (1975). Because adopting the rule that Olson seeks here would change nothing in this case, the opinion Olson seeks would be advisory and therefore disfavored under <u>Coleman</u>, 52 Cal. 3d at 1126.

# V. OLSON'S COMPLAINTS REGARDING THE FACTUAL FINDINGS ON THE MERITS OF THE SETTLEMENT DO NOT WARRANT REVIEW

At pages 38 through 40 of his petition, Olson presents a laundry list of discontent with various factual and case-specific holdings regarding the underlying merits of the instant settlement. All of these arguments run deep into the fact finding of the trial court and none of them implicate any broader policy issues.

# A. Nothing in the Factual Findings Regarding the Value of the Settlement Warrants Review

The record shows that the \$15 million recovery in the instant settlement is 15 times higher than the approved PAGA recovery in a similar case regarding California rideshare drivers. See, Cotter v. Lyft, Inc., 193 F. Supp. 3d 1030, 1033 (N.D. Cal. 2016); Cotter v. Lyft, Inc., 176 F. Supp. 3d 930, 934 (N.D. Cal. 2016). Turrieta presented the trial court and Court of Appeal

with evidence that showed the recovery in this case to be nearly twice as valuable in absolute terms as the next largest PAGA recovery for a rideshare driver case. Opinion at 10; Respondent Turrieta's Brief in the Court of Appeal ("RB") at 35-36. The same evidence shows that the instant settlement was eight times more valuable than the next closest settlement, when allowing for the class size and duration of the release period. RB at 35-36.

Although this case produced a record-setting PAGA recovery, Olson asserts that "a trial court assumes an additional obligation to consider whether there is evidence of a settlement achieved due to a "reverse auction." Petition at 38.

But the trial court in this case performed exactly that analysis and made factual findings including: 1) "The Settlement . . . is in all respects fair, reasonable and adequate, and complies with the policy goals of the PAGA." 2 AA 485; 2) "There was no collusion in Connection with the Settlement." 2 AA 485, 499; and 3) "The Settlement was the product of informed and arm's-length negotiations among competent counsel." 2 AA 485. The trial court also addressed and rejected the "reverse auction" argument at 2 AA 499. Why should this Court devote time to retrying the factual findings of a trial court below? Olson does not tell us.

Olson next complains that "the Court of Appeal adopted without consideration the trial court's conclusions about the fairness of the settlement . . ." Petition at 38. But here again,

Olson chose not to seek rehearing on any factual finding as required by <u>Cal. Rules Ct. 8.500(c)(2)</u>. Olson has thereby forfeited this issue. But even if he had not, these case-specific factual judgments cannot be worthy of this Court's limited time.

#### B. The Trial Court's Valuation of the Claims Does Not Present Any Issue That Warrants Review

Olson's next argument dives even more deeply into the factual weeds of this specific case. The parties attended mediation and accepted the mediator's proposal to settle this case on September 10, 2019. 3 AA 658 ¶4. At the time of the settlement, the law was uncertain as to how this Court's ruling in Dynamex Operations W. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 916 (2018) would apply to claims arising under the Wage Order as opposed to the Labor Code. *Dynamex*, 4 Cal. 5th at 916, n.5. See also, Garcia v. Border Transportation Group, LLC, 28 Cal. App. 5th 558, 571 (2018) ("We conclude *Borello* furnishes the proper standard as to non-wage-order claims."). AB5 addressed this issue, but that bill that passed the state assembly on September 11, 2019; one day after the *Turrieta* mediation. It only purports to apply prospectively, and did not take effect until January 2020. The instant settlement runs to December 31, 2019, so the law with regard to the settlement period remained uncertain.

There was likewise uncertainty about retroactive application of the *Dynamex* ruling. "A court may decline to follow the standard rule when retroactive application of a decision would raise substantial concerns about the effects of the new rule on the general administration of justice, or would unfairly undermine the reasonable reliance of parties on the previously existing state of the law." *Newman v. Emerson Radio Corp.*, 48 Cal. 3d 973, 983 (1989).

Olson argues that it was a mistake for the trial court to consider this risk in valuing the claims. Petition at 40. Olson cites <u>Gonzales v. San Gabriel Transit, Inc., 40 Cal. App. 5th 1131</u> (2019) for the proposition that *Dynamex* was likely to apply retroactively, but *Gonzales* did not come down until October 8, 2019, well after the mediation and settlement. And even then, the issue remained unsettled until this Court's 2021 opinion in <u>Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising Internat.</u>, 10 Cal. 5th 944 (2021).

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